#### IN THE

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS C. SUTTON, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC06-1000

District Court Case Nos. 1D05-5922; 1D05-5923; 1D05-5924; 1D05-5925; 1D05-5927; 1D05-5930; 1D05-5931; 1D05-5938; 1D05-5945; 1D05-5947; 1D05-5948

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

MICHAEL UFFERMAN
Michael Ufferman Law Firm, P.A.
660 East Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 386-2345/fax (850) 224-2340
FL Bar No. 114227

**Counsel for Petitioners** 

# A.

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

The Petitioners<sup>1</sup> sought review in the First District Court of Appeal of the circuit courts final orders denying their petitions for writs of prohibition. The petitions were filed in the circuit court as original actions (i.e., the writs invoked the original jurisdiction of the circuit court, *see* Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(c)(3), as opposed to the appeal jurisdiction of the circuit court, *see* Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(c)(1)). The Petitioners requested the circuit court to issue the writs of prohibition directing a county judge to take no further action in their cases. The Petitioners had previously filed motions to disqualify in county court, which were denied by the county judge.

The Petitioners timely filed notices of appeal from the circuit courts denials of the writs of prohibition. On December 22, 2005, the First District issued an order to show cause as to why the notices of appeal should not be treated as invoking the district courts certiorari jurisdiction. The parties thereafter filed pleadings arguing their respective positions. Both parties acknowledged in their pleadings that there is a current conflict

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are eleven Petitioners in this case. The issue in all eleven cases is identical. On April 24, 2006, the district court granted the Petitioners=motion to consolidate these cases Afor all appellate purposes.@ Accordingly, the Petitioners filed one notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court, which contained all eleven case numbers from the district court.

among the district courts as to whether a circuit courts order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari. *Compare Housing Authority of the City of Tampa v. Burton*, 873 So. 2d 356, 357-58 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (holding that the denial of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal); *with State v. Frazee*, 617 So. 2d 350, 351 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (holding that the issuance of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by certiorari).

On April 20, 2006, the First District issued a decision Adetermin[ing] that the order[s] denying the petition[s] for writ[s] of prohibition [are] reviewable by petition for writ of certiorari. A copy of the district courts decision is included in the appendix to this brief. In the decision, the First District acknowledged the conflict among the district courts by citing to *Frazee* from the Fourth District Court of Appeal and *Guzzetta v*. *Hamrick*, 656 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), from the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Petitioners submit that this Court should accept jurisdiction in order to resolve the conflict among the district courts regarding whether a circuit courts order on a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Of the eleven cases, *Findley v. State*, Case No. 1D05-5931, was the case in which the district court requested the parties to file pleadings regarding whether the denials of the petitions for writs of prohibition were reviewable by appeal or certiorari. The district court=s decision in *Findley* is included in the appendix to this brief. After the district court issued the decision in *Findley*, all eleven cases were consolidated Afor all appellate purposes@and Petitioner Sutton=s case was designated as the lead case (because Petitioner Sutton was assigned the earliest case number). The district court=s decision in *Sutton v. State*, Case No. 1D05-5922, is also included in the appendix to this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In *Guzzetta*, the Fifth District held that the denial of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal. *See* 656 So. 2d at 1327.

petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari.

### D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

There is a current conflict among the district courts as to whether a circuit courts order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari. The First District Court of Appeal in the instant case and the Fourth District Court of Appeal in State v. Frazee, 617 So. 2d 350, 351 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), both held that a circuit court-s order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by certiorari. In contrast, the Second District Court of Appeal in Housing Authority of the City of Tampa v. Burton, 873 So. 2d 356, 357-58 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Pinfield v. State, 710 So. 2d 201, 201 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), both held that a circuit court-s order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal. In the decision below, the First District expressly acknowledged the conflict by citing to Frazee from the Fourth District and then including a Abut see@citation to Guzzetta v. Hamrick, 656 So. 2d 1327, 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), from the Fifth District **B** another case where the Fifth District held that a circuit court-s denial of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal. Accordingly, the Petitioners submit that the conflict among the district courts on this issue is express and direct.

#### E. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT.

The Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of

appeal on the same point of law. See Art. V, ' 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

#### F. ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY.

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with *Housing Authority of the City of Tampa v. Burton*, 873 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), *Pinfield v. State*, 710 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), and *Guzzetta v. Hamrick*, 656 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), regarding whether a circuit court=s order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari.

The Petitioners sought review in the First District Court of Appeal of the circuit courts final orders denying their petitions for writs of prohibition. The Petitioners requested the circuit court to issue the writs of prohibition directing a county judge to take no further action in their cases. The Petitioners had previously filed motions to disqualify in county court, which were denied by the county judge.

The Petitioners sought review of the circuit courts final orders by filing timely notices of appeal. However, the district court below concluded that Athe order[s] denying the petition[s] for writ[s] of prohibition [are] reviewable by petition for writ of certiorari@ rather than by appeal.

Recently, in *Housing Authority of the City of Tampa v. Burton*, 873 So. 2d 356, 357-58 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), the Second District Court of Appeal addressed an *identical fact pattern* and held that the circuit courts denial of a petition for writ of prohibition was reviewable by the district court as an appealable final order:

The Tampa Housing Authority seeks certiorari review of the circuit courts order denying its petition for writ of prohibition. The petition for

writ of prohibition had sought to disqualify the county judge from further proceedings in litigation to evict a tenant of the Housing Authority. We treat the petition for writ of certiorari as an appeal from the circuit court and affirm.

In Hillsborough County Court, the Housing Authority obtained a favorable jury verdict in the eviction trial of Connie Burton, a resident of public housing in Tampa. When ruling on Burton=s motion for a new trial, the county judge denied the motion on the grounds asserted but ordered a new trial on his own initiative based on his personal observation that one juror was Aconsistently asleep in the jury box during the presentation of evidence@and that Ato allow the jury verdict to stand would be a manifest injustice. The trial record did not contain any mention by either party or the judge of a sleeping juror. The Housing Authority filed a motion to disqualify the county judge, accompanied by affidavits of representatives of the Housing Authority who were present during the trial but did not observe the juror sleeping. The Housing Authority feared judicial prejudice or bias because the county judge did not raise the issue of juror misconduct until after the trial's conclusion, even though such misconduct could have been cured by seating an alternate juror during the trial. The county judge denied the motion.

The Housing Authority filed a petition for writ of prohibition in the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit seeking to direct the county judge to disqualify himself. Ruling that the Housing Authority=s motion lacked sufficient facts alleging prejudice or bias, *the circuit court denied the petition*.

In another case involving an identical fact pattern, the Fifth District Court of Appeal also held that the circuit courts denial of a petition for writ of prohibition was

reviewable by appeal rather than by certiorari:

A petition for writ of prohibition is the proper vehicle for obtaining review of a lower tribunals denial of a motion for disqualification. *See Bundy v. Rudd*, 366 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1978). An order of the circuit court ruling on a petition for writ of prohibition is a final order reviewable by appeal. *See Guzzetta v. Hamrick*, 656 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), *rev. denied*, 663 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 1995).

Pinfield v. State, 710 So. 2d 201, 201 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).4

In contrast, in *State v. Frazee*, 617 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), which was relied upon by the court below, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the circuit courts issuance of a writ of prohibition is reviewable by certiorari. *Frazee* involved a review of the issuance of a writ of prohibition by the circuit court directed to the county court wherein the county court had denied the defendants motion for discharge under the speedy trial rule:

The State of Florida has perfected this appeal to review the issuance of a writ of prohibition by the circuit court directed to the county court wherein that court had denied Douglas Paul Frazee=s motion for discharge under the speedy trial rule. We believe this matter is properly reviewed by this court under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(b)(2)(B) and thus we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also Harris v. Culbreath, 818 So. 2d 563, 564 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (reviewing denial of petition for writ of prohibition as an appealable final order); *Loftis v. State*, 682 So. 2d 632, 633 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (AA circuit courts order on a writ of prohibition is a final appealable order, and is not reviewable by certiorari. ②); *State v. Brown*, 527 So. 2d 207, 207 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (holding that it was proper to review by appeal a circuit courts order Awhich granted the defendants petition for writ of prohibition and precluded the county court from trying her because of a violation of the speedy trial rule ②); *Treiman v. State*, 343 So. 2d 819 (Fla. 1977) (involving an *appeal* from the circuit courts order granting a writ of prohibition precluding county judge from presiding over case); *Mank v. Hendrickson*, 195 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967) (same).

treat it as a petition for writ of certiorari.

Frazee, 617 So. 2d at 351 (emphasis added).

In his most recent edition, Judge Padovano acknowledges that there is a conflict on this issue between the Second and Fifth Districts and the Fourth District. *See* Philip J. Padovano, *Florida Appellate Practice* ' 21.4, pg. 411 n.16 (2006 ed. West Group). Judge Padovano distinguishes between pleadings filed pursuant to the circuit courts original jurisdiction and pleadings filed pursuant to the circuit courts appeal jurisdiction. *See* Padovano, *supra*, ' 21.4 at pg. 411, n.16 & pg. 412 n.17. However, Judge Padovano cites to *Burton* with approval and states, AThe proper method of reviewing a final order denying a complaint for writ of prohibition is by appeal, not certiorari. Padovano, *supra*, ' 21.4 at pg. 411 n.16. The procedural posture of *Burton* is identical to the instant case (i.e., denial of motion to disqualify judge in county court and denial of writ of prohibition in circuit court).

Finally, in the decision below, the First District expressly acknowledged the conflict among the district courts by citing to *Frazee* from the Fourth District and then including a *Abut see@* citation to *Guzzetta v. Hamrick*, 656 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), from the Fifth District **B** another case where the court held that the denial of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable as an appealable final order.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In its original order directing the Petitioners to show cause why this case should not be treated as invoking the district court=s certiorari jurisdiction, the court below cited to this Court=s opinion in *Sheley v. Florida Parole Commission*, 720 So. 2d 216 (Fla.

1998). Sheley, however, is factually distinguishable from the instant case. Sheley involved an order of the Florida Parole Commission suspending a defendant-s presumptive parole release date. See Sheley, 720 So. 2d at 217. The defendant petitioned the circuit court for a writ of mandamus to review the Parole Commission=s order. See id. The circuit court denied the petition and the defendant sought further review. See id. The First District treated the appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari and denied the petition, and this Court approved the First District-s decision. See id. at 217-18. Notably, in *Sheley*, the Court emphasized that A[m]andamus is an accepted remedy for reviewing an order of the Florida Parole Commission.@ Id. at 217 (emphasis added). Therefore, when the defendant in *Sheley* filed the petition for a writ of mandamus in the circuit court, the petition invoked the appeal jurisdiction of the circuit court, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(c)(1), and further review of the Parole Commission-s decision invoked the district court-s certiorari jurisdiction, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(b)(2)(B). See id. In contrast, when a defendant files a petition for writ of prohibition in the circuit court seeking to prevent a county court from taking further action in a case, the petition invokes the circuit court=s original jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(c)(3). See Brown, 527 So. 2d at 208 (A[The defendant=s] petition for writ of prohibition instituted an original proceeding in the circuit court which challenged the jurisdiction of the county court judge.@) (emphasis added). Such a petition is not necessarily directed towards an order of the county court. See Baez v. State, 699 So. 2d 305, 305-06 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (reversing denial of petition for writ of prohibition, thereby precluding subsequent trial on double jeopardy grounds). For all of these reasons, the Petitioners submit that Sheley is not applicable to the instant case; Sheley is limited to cases where the circuit court acts in its appellate capacity **B** it does not apply to cases where the circuit court acts pursuant to its original jurisdiction. In Sheley v. Florida Parole Commission, 703 So. 2d 1202, 1204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), the First District recognized this distinction:

We acknowledge that if mandamus is used to initiate a new civil action in the circuit court, the resulting final order is subject to review by appeal. Mandamus is an action at law, and, as with other actions at law, a final judgment on a complaint for writ of mandamus is reviewable by appeal.

(Citation omitted). Consistent with the First Districts language in *Sheley*, the Petitioners submit that the writs of prohibition filed in the circuit court in the instant case were Anew civil actions@ and therefore the Afinal judgment[s] on [the] complaint[s]@ for the writs of prohibition are Areviewable by appeal.@ *Sheley*, 703 So. 2d at 1204.

Notably, the court below did *not* cite to *Sheley* as the basis for its decision to treat the Petitioners=cases as invoking the district court=s certiorari jurisdiction. Moreover, the

Accordingly, for all of the reasons set forth above, the Petitioners submit that there is a clear conflict among the district courts **B** a conflict that is both express and direct. The Petitioners respectfully request the Court to accept jurisdiction in this case and resolve the conflict between (1) the case below and the Fourth Districts decision in *Frazee* (holding that a circuit courts order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by certiorari) and (2) the Second Districts decision in *Burton* and the Fifth Districts decisions in *Pinfield* and *Guzzetta* (holding that a circuit courts order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal). This issue has an impact on the administration of justice throughout the state because resolution of this issue will clarify and unify the appropriate standard of review that district courts should use when reviewing the grant or denial of writs of prohibition filed in circuit court.

#### G. CONCLUSION.

decision in *Burton* was released *after Sheley*, indicating that the Second District concluded that *Sheley* is inapplicable to the instant fact pattern.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The briefing schedule in the court below has been stayed pending review of the district court=s decision ordering that this case proceed as a petition for writ of certiorari. The Petitioners submit that **i** is appropriate at this stage of the case for the Court to accept jurisdiction and resolve the conflict because the issue in dispute (whether the denial of a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari) was resolved in finality pursuant to the district court=s April 20, 2006, decision. It is likely that any further decision by the district court on the merits of this case will refrain from addressing the appeal/certiorari issue and therefore the Petitioners could be foreclosed from pursuing this issue at a later date. Moreover, the Petitioners submit that this issue regarding the appropriate standard of review must be addressed prior to any ruling on the merits. Once a decision on the merits is reached, the Acat will be out of the bag@ and it will be difficult, if not impossible, for the district court to reassess the case under a different standard.

The Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below. The Court should exercise its discretion and resolve the conflict among the district courts regarding whether a circuit courts order on a petition for writ of prohibition is reviewable by appeal or certiorari.