## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS C. SUTTON, et. al.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC06-1000

L.T. CASE NO. 1D05-5922, 1D05-5923, 1D05-5924, 1D05-5925, 1D05-5927, 1D05-5930, 1D05-5931, 1D05-5938, 1D05-5945, 1D05-5947, 1D05-5948

#### JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

BRYAN JORDAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0194603

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, THOMAS C. SUTTON, et. al., the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name. "PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number. Bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appear in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State rejects the Petitioners' statement of the case and facts because it goes outside the four corners of the unpublished orders of the First District Court at issue. In District Court case numbers 1D05-5922, 1D05-5923, 1D05-5924, 1D05-5925, 1D05-5930, 1D05-5938, 1D05-5945, 1D05-5947, 1D05-5948, identical orders were entered, which read in their entirety:

ĭ-1-ĭ

Upon the Court's own motion, the appeal is hereby redesignated as invoking the Court's certiorari See State v. Frazee, 617 So.2d 350 jurisdiction. (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)(reviewing circuit court order on petition for writ of prohibition by petition for writ of certiorari); but see Guzzetta v. Hamrick, 656 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)(reviewing circuit court order denying prohibition by appeal). The Petitioner shall have 20 days from the date of this order within which to file a petition which conforms to the requirements of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100. The petition shall be accompanied by an appendix which complies with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220.

(Appendix A). In District Court case numbers 1D05-5927 and 1D05-5931, orders substantially similar to that quoted above were entered. (Appendix B).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal's unpublished orders without table citations cannot provide conflict jurisdiction because they are not "decisions" as contemplated in Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

IS THERE DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT BETWEEN THE UNPUBLISHED ORDERS OF THE FIRST DISTRICT REDESIGNATING THE PETITIONERS' APPEALS FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF WRIT OF PROHIBITION AS INVOKING THE DISTRICT COURT'S CERTIORARI JURISDICTION? (Restated)

## Standard of Review

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution provides the Supreme Court of Florida with jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court which "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Issues presenting a pure question of law are reviewed *de novo*. <u>See Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000). Under the *de novo* standard of review, the appellate court pays no deference to the lower court's ruling; rather, the appellate court makes its own determination of the legal issue.

#### Merits

### A. Jurisdictional criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, which provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly

ĭ3ĭ

conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

<u>Id</u>.; <u>see</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v.</u> <u>State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); <u>accord Dept. of health</u> <u>and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling</u> <u>Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(rejecting "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves</u>, *supra*; <u>Jenkins</u> v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

In addition, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, *supra*. Also, this Court does not have jurisdiction to review per curium decisions of the district courts that merely affirm with citations to cases not pending review in this Court. <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981); <u>Dodi Publishing Co. v. Editorial America, S.A.</u>, 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980). Further, in <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a

~4~

Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

<u>Id</u>. at 810.

## B. There is no express and direct conflict of decisions

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal which Petitioner contends is in conflict with those of the Second District in Housing Authority of the City of Tampa v. Burton, 873 So.2d 356 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and those of the Fifth District in Pinfield v. State, 710 So.2d 201 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) and Guzzetta v. Hamrick, 656 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), are not "decisions" as contemplated in Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., but are routine, unpublished orders with no table citation. (Appendix A; B); Compare e.g. Perez v. Moore, 767 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 2000)(granting review pursuant to Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1981) and Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., of an unpublished order cited in the Southern Reporter at Perez v. Moore, 746 So.2d 457 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999)(table)). The State respectfully submits that because the April 20, 2006, orders at issue in this cause are not "published" as a table decision, they cannot create direct and express conflict with any decision of any other district court or this Supreme Court.

In Wainwright v. Taylor, 476 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1985), this Court explained: "Our concern in cases based on our conflict jurisdiction is the precedential effect of those decisions which are incorrect and in conflict with the decisions reflecting the correct rule of law." Id. at 670. A routine order of a district court that is not published with table citation is not available for citation in any other case; therefore, such an unavailable, routine order cannot establish precedent, either binding or persuasive. See e.g. Ullah v. State, 679 So.2d 1242, 1243 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) ("Previous motions of this nature have been granted by unpublished order, but we now elect to publish this opinion in an effort to forestall the need for future motions of this kind and to provide counsel for appellee with the guidance and precedent he seeks."). Accordingly, there is conflict of *decisions* on direct and express which no jurisdiction in this Court may lie. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv); see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.330(a)("When a decision is entered without opinion, and a party believes a written opinion would provide a legitimate basis for supreme court review, the motion [for rehearing or clarification] may include a request that the court issue a written opinion.").

ĭ6ĭ

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction because the unpublished orders of the First District Court of Appeal do not establish direct and express conflict of decisions under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.